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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

The Southern Railway Shops at Spencer, North Carolina, were opened on October 18,
1896. The first buildings were a machine shop, roundhouse, storehouses, and offices.
They were constructed with steel frames resting on substantial masonry, had corrugated
steel siding and slate roofs. The brick for these and all future structures on the
site was produced by the Isenhour Brick and Tile Company. George W. Isenhour, founder 9
of the firm, came to Salisbury from New London and established the brick plant in 1896.

The original complex was expanded in 1904, 1911, 1925, and 1935. Two of ‘the
aerial photographs illustrate the site at its peak of development in the years imme-
diately prior to Word War TII. The largest building on the site, the Back Shop, was
built in 1904-1905. It is 600 feet long by 150 feet wide; with walls of brick on a
concrete foundation with steel columns and roof trusses (photo #1, item D). Back
Shop was the term applied to the erecting shop where engines and cars were rebuilt and
repaired. The northwest side of this building was utilized for heavy repairs while
the southeast side was used as a machine shop. In 1907, the first of the tremendous
freight transfer sheds was erected. This particular operation of the Spencer complex
was gradually expanded until by 1939 there were six paralle% sheds each over 600 feet
long, with one being 950 feet in length (photo #1, item M).

By 1910, work had expanded from the back shop into a new boiler shop (H), car
plant, and planing mill (T). A freight car repair shop was added in 1917. 1In 1922
the railroad estimated the replacement value of the land, builgings, equipment, and
trackage at Spencer to be between $20,000,000 and $25,000,000. A modern engine
terminal was completed in 1924 which-included a $500,000, 37=stall roundhouse (A),
with 100 foot:turntable (B), a' thousand-ton coal .chute. and 15,000-ton-coaling station
(R); a sand processing station (S); and a water station on the Yadkin River with a
capacity of 4,000,000 gallons daily.~ 1In 1935 the repair shops were again expanded to
accommodate heavy repairs.

Shortly after the peak of the Spéencer Shop's steam-oriented growth, change came
with the coming of diesel locomotive power, The steam locomotive support facilities
at Spencer were rapidly modified or destroyed to make way for the new diesels. Southern
Railway was one of the first major railroads in the nation to convert completely to
diesel power. A large portion of the old steam roundhouse was rebuilt and re-equipped
with "drop tables,"” inspection pits and working platforms for diesels. New fuel oil
facilities were installed t9 replace the old coaling station which was demolished by
axplosives on June 8, 1953. The boiler shop, back shop, etc., were all adapted for
diesel work. ' :

After the shops were closed in 1960, the company tore down the blacksmith shop
(G), carpenter's shop (I), car sheds (M), and parts of the power station (T) in 1962.
The boiler shop (H) was dismantled by an industry from Marion, North Carolina, and
reassembled in that town in the early-1960s. The roundhouse, back shep, electric shop
(N), storehouse #3 (E), offices (F), and several smaller buildings remain vacant and
for lease. The 37-stall roundhouse is in fair condition and parts of it are still used
for diesel repair work. The paint shop (P) is still used for painting railroad equip-
ment, mostly cabooses. The back shop is in varying stages of deterioration. Vegetation
along its outer walls has induced many cracks and in one particular instance on the
southeast side, structurally weakened the building. The tremendous doors at either
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end of the building have fallen off their hinges and few windows are left intact.
There are many holes in the roof that allow the weather and a sizable pigeon pop-

ulation access to the building.

The actual area of historic importance comprises approximately 27 and one-half
acres bordering the east side of U.S. 29, Salisbury Avenue, between 3rd and 8th

Streets in Spencer.

Photograph #1 Aerial enlargement of Spencer Shops, 1941
(A) roundhouse, (B) turntable, (D) Back Shop,
(E) storehouse #3, (F) main office building,

(G) blacksmith shop, (H) boiler shop,
(I) carpenter shop, (M) transfer sheds,
(N) electric/flue shop, (P) paint shop,
(R) coaling station, (8) sand station,
(T) power station. :

#2 Aerial looking Southwest, 1975

(A) roundhouse, (B) turntable, (D) back shop,
(E) storehouse #3, (F) main office building,

(G) blacksmith shop, (H) boiler shop,
(I) carpenter shop, (M) transfer sheds,
(N) electric/flue shop, (P) paint shop,
(R) coaling station, (S) sand station,
(T) power station.

#3 Aerial looking Northwest, late 40s

#4 Southwest corner of property looking Northwest, 1976
#5 Roundhouse and turntable looking Northeast, 1976
#6 Heavy repairs side of Back Shop, looking Southwest, 1916

#7 Heavy repairs side of Back Shop, looking South, 1976

FOOTNOTES

lSouthern Railway Spencer Shops, Railroad Gazette, October 23, 1896.

2Sifford, Frank, "East Spencer Was First Called Southern City,'" Salisbury

Evening Post, Bicentennial Edition, 4M, April 29, 1975.
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3Annual Report to Stockholders Southern Railway Company, Richmond, Va.,
June 30, 1905.

4Daniel, Charles F., "The Southern Railway is Rowan County's Biggest Single
Industry,' Salisbury Evening Post, October 1, 1939.

5"About 3 Thousand Worked Regular in Normal Time,' Salisbury Evening Post,
September 11, 1932. :

6McQuage, 0. C., "Kiwanians Tour Vast Plant of Southern Road" Salisbury Evening
Post, March 11, 1938.

7"Thar She Blows!", Salisbury Evening Post, June 9, 1953.
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—-1800-1699 —ARCHITECTURE —EDUCATION —MILITARY —SOCIAL/HUMANITARIAN

—1700-1799 —ART ——ENGINEERING —Music —THEATER

X..1800 1899 X COMMERCE ——EXPLORATION/SETTLEMENT —PHILOSOPHY X TRANSPORTATION

__1900 -—COMMUNICATIONS X INDUSTRY ._LPOLITICS/GOVERNMEN'l; —OTHER (SPECIFY)
—INVENTION

SPECIFIC DATEs March 23, 18965 1911, 1917y, per/ARCHITECT
1924, 1935, 1960, 1962

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Beginning in 1896 and throughout its life, the Spencer Shops, one of the largest
railroad shops in the country, played an important role in the economic life of North
Carolina as indeed the shops' owner, Southern Railway, continues to do. Despite
destruction of portions of the complex Spencer, with its surviving buildings--=the
large Back Shop, other shops, offices, and vast roundhouse-—provides a seldom viewed
example of the creation, sustenance and decline of a single-industry town in the New
South; the site is perhaps the single most 1mportant example of heavy industry and

transportation history .in the state.... .. . .. .. ... .. .

The first railroads in North Carolina were built in the eastern part of the state.
Both the Wilmington and Weldon and the Raleigh and Gaston railroads were completed
in 1840. However, there was no east-west railroad and the demand for such a trunk

line grew stronger with each passing year.

v, -After a great deal of political-maneuvering, the North Carolina Legislature in
1848-~1849 chartered the North Carolina Railroad Company. Financed mostly with state
funds, the North Carolina Railroad connected the larger cities and towns of Piedmont
North Carolina. The railroad extended from Goldsboro via Raleigh, Durham, Burlington,
Greensboro, and Salisbury to Charlotte, a distance of 223 miles.

The North Carolina Railroad proved to be the greatest economic stimulus in the
state's history. Agriculture and industry grew rapidly beside the railroad, as did
the area's population. During the Civil War the North Carolina Railroad formed an
important part of the Confederate transportation system.

In 1871 the road was leased for thirty years to the Richmond and Danville Railroad
Company of Virginia. A few years later the Richmond and Danville went into receivership
and was reorganized in 1894 as the Southern Railway Company. On August 16, 18?5, the
lease of the North Carclina Railroad to the Southern was renewed for 99 years. The
terms of the lease require that Southern Railway Company keep the track in good condition
and pay taxes on the property. The state has no obligations, but does collect the
rental in the form of dividends. The lease also stipulated that Southern ''shall have
leave to change any shops, tracks, houses, and:other, things.in such way as to promote
the convenience of shipments of freights, travel and the safety of the road and

property.'
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As the Southern Railway Company continued to absorb southeastern railroads under
its corporate banner, the need for a central repair shop on the sprawling rail system
became a necessity. Soon after the lease agreement with the North Carolina Raillroad
Company was signed, Southern decided to relocate the Company Shops of the N.C.R.R.
from present=day Burlington, - to a site halfway between Atlanta and Washington, on
the double-track main line. At this point heavily-traveled lines from Knoxville,
Savannah and Charleston also converged.

The land, 168 acres, was located two and one-half miles northeast of Salisbury,
North Carolina. It was purchased on February 8, 1896, and February 13, 1896, by
John S. Henderson, former U. S. Congressman, and a Salisbury lawyer. A 101~acre
purchase was made from.a black, Robert Partee, for the sum of $25 to $30 per acre.

- The remaining 67 acres were acquired from other land owners. The deeds,to the
property were immediately turned over to Southern Railway by Henderson.

On March 23, 1896, Southern began construction of one of the largest railroad
shops in the nation on this property. Work progressed throughout the spring and
summer of 1896 on the huge industrial plant. The facility was opened in stages
between October 18, 1896, and November 1, 1896. The shops were named for Samuel
Spencer, president (1894-1906) of the newly organized railroad. The first buildings
were a machine ship, roundhouse, and offices. According to an excerpt from the
Southern Railway Annual Report for 1897, '"Spencer (near Salisbury, N.C.): These
shops are new, of modern design, and well equipped. With the exception of the smith
shop, the buildings are heated by hot air and are lighted with electricity."

Not only was an industrial complex created out of this Rowan County wilderness
but a town to house the railroad workers also emerged. The town of Spencer came to
life because of the establishment of one industry. The Southern Railway shops con-
tinued as the major employer and taxpayer in this Rowan community well into the 1950s.

The Spencer Shops became the largest heavy repair facility on the entire Southern
Railway system. A portion of all steam locomotives in the system underwent heavy
repairs here. By 1932 seventy-five engiges daily were turned out for "light repairs'';
one engine daily was completely rebuilt.

Passenger and freight cars were serviced and assembled into trains and dispatched
in all directions from the Spencer yards. During the late 1930s and early 194035
twenty-one passenger and twenty-four freight trains rolled out of Spencer daily. _
Southern also established the largest freight transfer facility in the south at Spencer.
The transfer handled around 250 and 300 cars of freight on an average day. The great
majority of the crews who manned these passenger and freight trains lived in Spencer.
The total work force of the Spencer complex usually remained between 2,200 and 2,500
employees.

GPO 892 455
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Southern Railway's transition from steam to diesel power was swift. It was one
of the first railroads in the country to .convert its system completely to diesel power.
As the steam locomotive support facilities were modified or destroyed with the rapid
rise of the diesel so too were the jobs of hundreds of Spencer man and women. By
the early 1950s Southern began laying.off large numbers of workers until on July 30,
1960, it closed the Spencer Shops entirely. Only a skeleton work force was maintained
to service the sixteen diesel switching engines of the yard. The large shop buildings
soon fell into disrepair through neglect as the railroad tried unsuccessfully to
lease the property for industrial use.

Today the Spencer Shop's deterioration remains unchecked. Southern Railway plans
to vacate the entire site by the fall of 1978. At that time the company will move
into its new Linwood, North Carolina, terminal, fifteen miles northeast of Spencer
on the double track main line. After the 1978 move to Linwood, the Spencer property's
future is uncertain. The projected Southern Railway plan for the Spencer Shops is
to develop this property, along with some adjoining railroad property, for industrial
use. At present, the buildings are falling increasingly into decay.

FOOTNOTES

1Rowan County Deeds, Book 81, pp. 79-89, microfilm copy, State Archives, Division
of Archives and History, Raleigh, North Carolina.

2Rowan County Deeds, Book 79, p. 150, pp. 155-156, microfilm copy, State Archives,
Division of Archives and History, Raleigh, North Carolina.

3Rowan County Deeds, Book 81, pp. 221-224, pp. 262-264, microfilm copy, State
Archives, Division of Archives and History, Raleigh, North Carolina.

4"Abou): 3 Thousand Worked Regular In Normal Times,'" Salisbury Post, September
11, 1932.

5McQuage, 0. C., "Kiwanians Tour Vast Plant of Southern Road," Salisbury Post,
March 11, 1938.

6Daniel, Charles F., "The Southern Railway is Rowan County's Biggest Single
Industry," Salisbury Post, October 1, 1939. :

7Lesher, Steve, ''Spencer Is Gloomy, But Confident of Future) Winston-Salem
Journal, August 7, 1960, Al6.
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